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Foreward 
After a considerable amount of pestering, Staff Sergeant Leo J McLaverty (AKA Pop-Pop) finally 
agreed to sit down and talk about his experiences during WWII.  He had given a few interviews 
to various grandchildren and other family members about his service when they needed to 
interview a veteran for a history project, but he never thought anyone would care about what he 
did while overseas. 

As he admitted, “I was one lucky sonofabitch”.  His time in the army consisted of a series of 
events that allowed him to avoid heavy combat for the majority of the time.  He was promoted to 
corporal just before all privates at camp were shipped out to Africa as support.  He remained in 
the US for additional training that made him more than ready when he eventually sailed to 
Europe.  His platoon just missed boarding the Leopoldville from Britain to France, a ship that was 
eventually torpedoed.  His then depleted division was diverted from the Battle of the Bulge and 
directed to St. Nazaire to babysit 10,000 Germans penned in there.  And by some additional 
stroke of luck, he landed in occupation duty in Austria when the war in Europe ended, avoiding 
further combat duty in the Pacific.  He was very lucky.   

To think, all of these men gave up years of their lives to serve their country.  Pop-Pop served 
from the age of 18-21.  Wow.  Some who served were married with children, blue-collar, white 
collar – forced to leave their jobs behind.   

These veterans saw enough death, destruction, and starving and homeless civilians to last a 
lifetime.  They ate too much slop, endured too many freezing nights in the French countryside, 
and traveled too far over bombed-out rails in cramped boxcars, never really sure where they 
might end up. 

To him, and to all WWII veterans, almost to a man, they were simply doing their job.  Those who 
survived, no matter what their service record, would always defer the term “hero” to those 
300,000+ that did not return.   

But to us, Pop-Pop is a hero.  And lucky or not, here is his tale in his own words.  The majority 
was captured during interviews from 2011 up until he reviewed his last draft in April of 2013.  
The military honors given at his graveside on October 23, 2013 closed the book, but not the story.   

He was adamant about not wanting any of this story to sound grand or exciting; and scratched out 
many notes that might be misread.  He felt it was important that his grandchildren know what it 
was like for him to serve, and to realize that the sacrifice was worth it. 

If you see a vet, say thanks.   

Thank you, Pop-Pop. 
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CIVILIAN LEO J. MCLAVERTY 

3958 ELSER STEET 
PHILADELPHIA, PA 
Roman Catholic High School Class of 1942 

During my senior year at Roman, on Sunday, 

December 7, 1941, the bombing of Pearl Harbor 

would change our lives forever.  War was declared 

against Japan and Germany.  You had to sign up 

for the draft when you turned 18.  After 

graduation in June 1942, jobs were not available 

for us as employers knew we would be drafted 

soon.  No-one wanted to train us and then have us 

called into service.  We had a series of jobs. 

I had one job at Exide Battery on Allegheny 

Avenue.  I was a trimmer boy.  We trimmed all the burrs off the connector bars that they 

made to go across the top of the batteries.  One guy runs a mold, and just flips the bars out.  

A saw-man cut them into pieces.  The trimmer boys had to file the burrs.  One day, we went 

out on strike.  First, they put a trimmer boy on a saw.  Then they took the trimmer boy off 

the saw.  So we went across the street and we sat on the steps.  They ignored us for a few 

hours, but as the lead straps were piling up, they started to beg us to come back in.  

Eventually, we went back in.  My first and only labor strike. 

REMEMBER THAT YOU ARE NOW A SOLDIER 
I received my draft letter in March of 1943.  We were to report on March 31.  I received a 

notice to report to the Armed Forces Induction Center of the 166th Field Artillery on Lancaster 

Avenue (now part of Drexel University.)  We were given a brief physical, although nobody 

was turned away at this point.  They looked at our teeth and down our throats, gave us a 

couple of needles and told when to report to the train station.  We had a couple of days at 

home before we had to head out.  We boarded the Pennsylvania Railroad at the N. Broad St. 

Station, Broad St. & Glenview Ave. on March 31 and headed to the base camp in New 

Cumberland, PA.   
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We were processed in New Cumberland base camp and then put back on trains which took us to Ft. 

Meade, MD.  At Ft. Meade, we were given exams as soon as we arrived.  They marched us into a big 

barracks for various written tests.  It was about midnight.  We were dead tired from traveling all day 

but there was no chance to rest.  The tests determined what company you would be assigned to.  I 

missed officer’s training school by 1 point.  I was assigned to the 66th Black Panther Infantry Division.  

We were now GI’s, making $55 a month. 

CAMP BLANDING: FLORIDA PANTHERS 

From there, we moved on to Camp Blanding, FL for basic training.  Jimmy McCool, Joe Mooney, Joe 

McCourt – we were all together for this trip.  We sang the whole way down – TV show songs, Little 

Orphan Annie, commercials – whatever we could think of to pass the time.  It took a couple of days 

for the train ride south.  Blanding was about 7 miles from Stark, Florida and about 60 miles southwest 

of St. Augustine.  Not that we knew where we were.  We just knew we were in the middle of 

nowhere.  Ed Herre arrived at Blanding a short time after me.  He was a Private First Class (Pfc) 

making about $10 more per month and wearing 1 stripe on his sleeve. 

Sgt Karlsrude was the platoon sergeant who met us at the rail end when we arrived.  He selected 4 

or 5 of us and took us to our company, which turned out to be “H” company, a heavy weapons unit 

that was part of the 66th.  The company was made up of 3 platoons: 2 platoons of water-cooled 30 

cal machine guns (vintage WWI) and 1 platoon of 81mm mortars.  There were 8 guns in each gun 

platoon and I think there were 8 mortar squads in their platoon (1 mortar each).  Everyone else went 

to infantry. 

In our platoon, one guy carried the machine gun, 1 the tripod, and 2 carried ammo cans.  We 

eventually rigged up an ammo pack so we didn’t have to carry those heavy cans in our arms.  I was 

glad to be carrying around a machine gun and not the mortar with its heavy base plate.  The mortar 

platoon also had to worry about their firing positions.  One mortar platoon had a round go off right 

over their head because they forgot to clear out a branch hanging overhead.   

Over the next week, we were issued uniforms, boots, etc. and we started learning the basics of army 

life: marching, how to drill, marching, learning about our machine guns, and marching.  For several 

weeks we had no rifles, so we used sticks to learn the rifle drills.  Every few days, more men would 

arrive.  It took about a month to fill up the division.  We passed the time doing all kinds of work 

around the camp: cleaning areas, taking stoves out of barracks, doing PT and short order drilling.  
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Finally, the M1 rifles arrived.  We learned how to clean them pretty quick; the Florida air rusted 

everything fast.  The division was just about full by Easter.   

They had sunrise services on the Parade Grounds.  We marched in review of General Kramer for the 

first time.  He welcomed us and promised us all the training we could handle before going overseas.  

He was not kidding.   

Florida was getting pretty hot; and the sand was deep and hard to walk on.  At first, we were training 

in platoons and squads, and later by company.  Many guys would pass out from the heat.  If a man 

stopped sweating, it was a bad sign.  Our green fatigues would turn white from the salt sweating out.  

Every soldier was required to take 2 salt tablets every morning.  They were lousy and made lots of 

the men sick.  We were also weaned to a canteen of water a day.  The canteens were usually hot 

before noon, so many of us drank from creeks or any other freshwater we could find.   

At the end of quarantine training (a few weeks), we could get a pass into town, but I had no money.  

I heard the training cadre non-coms had been paid, so I marched up to Fundum’s office and asked 

him for a loan of 5 bucks.  Fundum was my 1st Sergeant.  He growled and told me he would kill me 

if I told anyone where I got it.  I promptly told everyone that Fundum was loaded and a line formed 

at his office.  He told me:  “On pay day, I better be the first stop you make with 5 bucks in your 

hand.” 

Ernest Elmer Fundum was the top NCO of the Company.  He ran the orderly room, which was the 

office right outside the Captain’s office.  No-one saw the Captain without going through Fundum.  

And no-one ever called him Ernest Elmer.  He was just Fundum. 

On one of our weekend passes, I went into Panama City with a few others.  We used to pull the 

mattress off the bed and 2 guys would sleep on the floor while 2 got the bed springs.  For some 

reason, the one night when we went to sleep, I took my wallet out of my pants and put it under my 

pillow.  The next morning, the other 3 guys noticed they all had their wallets stolen during the night.  

We found the wallets outside with the train passes and IDs, but no cash.  We gave that manager hell 

about that. 

On another pass, we went down to St. Augustine.  The Navy had a bunch of sailors on leave as well 

– the place was packed.  We had a hell of a time finding a place to stay.  Someone gave us a tip that 

there was a lady who might rent us a room.  We went down to her place, and she looked us over 



 

Page  10  LJ McLaverty 33595276 
 

before agreeing to rent us her daughter’s room.  The daughter was up in NY.  The rule was that we 

were not to touch anything.  She rented it to us for $4 each.  In the morning, she served us a full 

breakfast – it was great.  She even saved the room for us the next time we had a pass. 

On our second trip to St. Augustine, we met up with some Navy Waves on the beach.  I fell asleep 

and got the worst sunburn on the back of my legs.  It landed me in the hospital for 4-5 days.  They 

would send MPs around to do inspections and make sure there was no one faking an injury – some 

guys would do that if they thought they were getting close to being sent overseas.  I still remember 

the pain of having to get out of that bed so that I could be checked.  When all that water shifted 

inside those blisters – it was awful.  A couple of guys came in to tell me that we were getting close 

to moving out.  There was no way I wasn’t shipping out with the rest of my company, so I told the 

doctor to get me out of there.  My buddies packed up my stuff so that I could shove out with the rest 

of my outfit. 

About a week later, at an evening 

revelry, they made an announcement 

that anyone who got sunburn and 

was declared unfit for duty because of 

it could be court-martialed.  I didn’t 

go back to the beach. 

 

I was a Pfc by the time I left Florida. 

 

 

 

 

                  Camp Blanding, FL  
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CAMP ROBINSON, ARKANSAS 

In June, after basic training was complete, I got a 15-day furlough to go home.  While home, I got 

my orders to report to Camp Joseph T. Robinson in Little Rock, AK.  I had no idea where Little Rock, 

AK was, or how I was going to get there.  My sister Clare had a friend, Patsy Logan, whose father 

worked for the Railroad.  He took my orders to work the next day and came home with tickets and 

instructions for how to get there.  I took one train to St. Louis and then another on to Little Rock.   

Our division, the 66th, was known as the Panther Division.  [The 66th Black Panther Division was 

activated on April 15, 1943, and was an active US Army Division for only 2½ years.  The black 

panther was chosen to symbolize the attributes of a good infantryman: ability to kill, to be aggressive, 

alert, stealthy, cunning, agile, and strong.]  Our shoulder patch was a full-length cat.  When we 

arrived, the Arkansas paper had headlines that read “The Pussycat Division Has Arrived.”  General 

Kramer sure did not like that.  He had the patch changed to a Growling Black Panther head.  

Everyone liked it. 

 

          

 

The 66th Division was made up of 3 regiments of infantrymen– the 262nd, 263rd, and 264th.  Each 

regiment had 3 battallions: 

1st Battallion made up of infantry companies A, B, and C with company D in support 

2nd Battallion was made up of infantry companies E, F, and G with H in support 

3rd Battallion was made up of infantry companies I, K, and L with M in support.   

D, H, and M were heavy weapons companies.   

Each heavy weapon company was made up of 2 machine gun platoons and 1 mortar platoon. 
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By the time I got to camp, the rumor was that General Kramer was in Washington to get our overseas 

orders.  We jumped right back into training.  The training at Camp Robinson was designed to really 

toughen us up, and it did.  Each morning started with a march as a unit for anywhere from 5 to 10 

miles to an area where we would work on attack problems.  Many of these included learning to place 

our machine guns in defense positions, digging foxholes, and preparing for counter attacks.  We 

would be called together and told what was right or wrong at the end of each problem.  At the end 

of basic training, I was made an Instrument Corporal. [8/23/43] 

This camp was located right in the middle of town.  It was easy to get in and out of town on the public 

transit buses – as long as you had a pass. 

 
 

Instead of General Kramer coming back with overseas orders for the whole division, it turned out that 

since we were so well-trained, about half of our division, including all of the privates and Pfcs, were 

sent overseas as replacements.  Since I was a corporal, I stayed behind to train the new recruits.   

Ed Herre shipped out with them.  He ended up in N. Africa, and then onto Italy.  [He was soon 

captured in Italy, and eventually ended up in Germany in a prisoner camp.]      
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The new guys that came in to my platoon were students from the Army Specialized Training Program.  

[The ASTP was a military training program instituted by the Army during World War II at a few 

universities to meet wartime demands for junior officers and soldiers with technical skills.]  They 

came in with their crushed, 50 mission hats.  We had those silly hats that sat on the side of your 

head.  They were all smarter than me (more learning, anyway), and all thought they were gonna be 

Colonels at the end of their training.  But first, they had to be privates.  So we started basic training 

all over again with these guys: walk..walk..walk..walk; carrying machine guns and heavy equipment.  

Walk…walk…walk. 

 
 

Fundum sent me to Ranger school in November.  He didn’t like me; that’s why he sent me.  You had 

to squat all the time, and everything was on the double.  Obstacle courses, cliff climbing, rope stuff 

– it was about 10 days long.  We had landmine training, explosives, grenade throwing.  The 

machine gun replacements – their training involved climbing under the wires while we were shooting 

live ammo over their heads.  I got a diploma – it has the pussycat on it.   

 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_States_Army
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/World_War_II
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Junior_officer
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FORT RUCKER, ALABAMA 

I spent a few more months at Robinson training the new men on machine guns and combat courses.  

They were hard to train because they were college material and thought they should be officers.  By 

the end of this training, I was made a Staff Sergeant. [January 5, 1944] 

Together, we moved out again, this time to Fort Rucker, Alabama [April 15, 1944] for "Jungle 

Training.”  This changed the rumors and we were now thinking: the Pacific.   

 
Daley, me, Vierhoff, and Fundum.     Camp Rucker, Alabama. 

 

Daley was a squad leader (buck sergeant) in the 1st platoon.  I was a staff sergeant.  Fundum was 

our first sergeant (top dog).  Vierhoff was a platoon sergeant. 
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In November, we got the orders to pack-up, we’re moving out.  They pulled the shades on the train, 

so we wouldn’t know where we were going.  I had my biggest thrill while in the army on that trip from 

Alabama.  Because I was a staff sergeant, I had the run of the train.  I could see outside when 

moving from car to car.  On one leg of the trip I was amazed to see that we were going through 

Philly.  I ran to the cook’s car, because they had a big side door open for fresh air.  I could see 

Budd’s, TastyKake, and then Link Belt.  There on the shipping platform was my Uncle John.  I 

screamed out to him and he later said he saw that curly head for just a second sticking out of the 

cook’s car.  He ran into his office and called my mom to tell her he saw me go past.  He knew the 

train was going to NY and figured we would probably be going overseas. 
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We got to Camp Shanks, outside of NYC, on November 14.  There were plenty of servicemen there, 

waiting to go overseas.  I remember when one of the black companies was getting ready to ship out, 

they marched down the center of the street – they were crying.  They didn’t want to go overseas.  

They had 8-10 MPs who would follow the march to make sure none of them tried to hide in the ditches 

on the side of the road.   

I got 2 passes while at Shanks.  The passes were to NYC.  I hopped a train in NY to Philly and got 

home to have dinner.  Cap would drive me back to the train station.  I told him: “I don’t know how 

many more of these trips I’ll get – one of these nights they’re gonna lock us in.”  I got the 2nd pass 

on November 25.  I took Fundum and Vierhoff home for a turkey dinner.  Fundum wrote out the 

passes, but again, they were only good to NYC.  But the 3 of us hopped the first train down to Philly.  

They cleaned up that turkey dinner.  Vierhoff and Fundum both came from huge farmhouses out in 

the midwest and they couldn’t understand how we could all live in that little house on Elser Street.   

When we got back to the camp, they slammed the gates behind us.  That was it.   

 

Figure 1  US Training Camps  
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Mildred (Old Salt) was Ed Herre’s sister.  She had enrolled in the Women’s Army Corps. 
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LPE NOVEMBER 26, 1944 

After several days, they marched us down to a harbor in NY to prepare to go overseas.  The Panthers 

were assigned to 2 ships.  My company boarded the USS General George O. Squier.  Other 

companies were loaded onto the USS Washington.  We set sail from NY all by ourselves.  But the 

first morning we woke up on the ship, we went out on the deck and saw boats all over the place.  

Right beside us was a mini aircraft carrier.  Geez, talk about a target.  It wasn’t one of the big 

carriers, but it was still a target.  First we went south, then up north all around Greenland.  There 

was some u-boat activity in the area that kept us shifting course.  One night, it was so rough the 

screw would come up out of the water and the whole boat would shake.  It took us 14 days to cross 

the Atlantic.   

 

USS General G.O. Squier 

 

I made sure I got a top bunk.  I was first assigned a lower bunk, but switched with a guy who thought 

the top bunk would be too hot.  A lot of those farmers had never been off the farm.  They were 

puking as soon as they got on the boat.  By the next day, the guy I switched with was using his 

raincoat on the bottom bunk because the guys above were throwing up above him the whole time.  

Those boats were awful.  We used to go up to the latrine.  They had puke sloshing back and forth on 

the floor, the toilets were full and God - the smell was awful. 

A couple of times – going down to that mess hall, the stink would come up the stairwell.  It would 

make you want to puke before you even ate. 
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ENGLAND: YOU ARE NOW A “CHAP” 

We arrived in Plymouth, England in December, 1944.  The battalion was scattered all over England.  

My platoon, about 50 of us, went to Lyme-Regis, on the SE coast of England.  We were put up in a 

big estate named St. Albans.  This estate had been requisitioned by the British Army in 1940, and 

then by the US Army in 1943, for housing troops. 

 

 

 

It was a cold winter, and we only had a little fireplace for heat.  We put a fire in a drum and knocked 

a pane of glass out.  The groundskeeper had a fit, and told us:  “Oh, his Lordship is not going to like 

that”.  We didn’t care about his Lordship.  We didn’t complain too much, though, as some others 

from the company were living in tents. 

We found a pub up the end of a dirt road out back – the beer was room temperature.  The locals 

would get us into darts games.  But they were English darts – they were so heavy we couldn’t hit the 

board.  One night, someone brought up a regular set of American darts.  We clobbered them that 

night. 

 



 

Page  27  LJ McLaverty 33595276 
 

The locals used to tell us about their rations, and how rarely they got meat.  We said: “Look at all the 

rabbits and deer running around here - why aren’t you eating them?”  They told us they belonged to 

his Lordship.  We told them what we thought the Lordship could do with his bunnies. 

We got familiar with German weaponry while we were at Lyme Regis.  Their stuff was so much better 

than ours.  Ours was leftover from WWI.  The Germans had machine guns they called Burp guns.  

They could fire over 1000 rounds in a minute.  To keep the barrels from over-heating, they put a 

wood bullet in the belt every 6 rounds.  The gunner had to pull the handle and re-cock the gun to 

keep firing.  This gave the barrel time to cool.  We had Browning 1921 machine guns.  They fired 

250 rounds per minute: pretty sad. 

The German 88’s (88mm) were the most feared artillery piece in the world.  They could be used on 

aircraft or field personnel.  They were accurate and quick-firing.  Our M1 rifles were better than 

theirs.  Ours were gas-operated and had 8 rounds to a clip.  The German rifle had a bolt action with 

5 rounds/clip.  When we were issued our M1 rifles, we had to wash them with gasoline to remove the 

heavy grease called cosmaline before we could use them.  The only drawback to the M1 was found 

if you drew early morning guard duty.  You had to pee on the front of the barrel to free-up the gas 

chamber.  Ice would freeze the chamber and it would not feed another round. 

While at Lyme Regis, I got a weekend pass to Bournemouth, which was where the queen went in the 

summer.  When we got there it was pretty early.  We didn’t pay for the train – we didn’t have any 

money for the train.  We went to the Red Cross to get something to eat.  We watched the guys at 

the front of line get a coffee and a donut, and then pay something for them.  We didn’t have any 

money, so we went down to the Salvation Army.  The Salvy gave us coffee, donuts, a place to sleep 

and a razor – top class.  While in Bournemouth, we went to a grand tea room.  It was a fancy place.  

They had a band and you could dance.  We went there and danced with some of the girls.  Then we 

made arrangements to meet some of them at a pub that night.  But after a quick shower, we walked 

out the door of the Salvy into such a thick fog that we never did find that pub.  We ended up catching 

a cab and he took us to another pub.  We stayed until closing, and then caught a cab back to the SA 

to get another good night’s sleep.  On Sunday, we had to catch a train back to camp.   

They also had dances in Lyme Regis that we would go to, but they were more low-key. 

We got word on December 23 that we were to ship out.  Mess sergeant Drury came over to ask if we 

knew anyone in the town.  He had to get rid of the turkeys that were on tap for Christmas dinner.  
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We loaded a bunch into the jeep, drove into town and gave them to any woman we saw passing on 

the street.  They were thrilled. 

I remember lining up to get coffee and donuts from the women in Lyme Regis.  All the women would 

be in line serving with their cigarettes hanging out of their mouths.  And every cigarette had a long 

ash hanging on the end.  We used to stare at that ash – waiting for it to fall and make sure it didn’t 

fall on our donut or into our coffee. 

PREPARE FOR BATTLE 

Up we went to Southampton.  We went right to the dock.  We were in line to get on the SS 

Leopoldville, when one of the supply officers came along and said: “These men do not have shoe 

packs.  They can’t board without them.”  Shoe packs were rubber boots with laces in the front.  So 

we had to walk all the way back to a big hangar where you picked up your gear.  Our hands were full, 

our packs were full – all they could do was hang a pair of those boots around our neck.  One size fits 

all. 

When we got back to the line, the gangplank had been pulled up.  We were told the boat was full.  

We were sent to a smaller boat further down the dock.  We boarded the British boat Antana.  I went 

on with my men, another bunch, our jeeps and trailers full of machine guns and ammo.  We knew 

there’d be no swimming if this boat got hit.  There was known German U-boat activity out in the 

Channel; so we were docked, waiting for the all-clear to go.  What we didn’t know at the time was 

that the Leopoldville had already been hit.   

My guardian angel was working overtime that night.  The Leopoldville went down and the 66th 

Division lost approximately 800 men who never lived long enough to pull a trigger.  For 50 years it 

was kept a secret.  Folks back home were told their sons were missing in action.  Christmas Eve is 

not a happy night for me. 

For the first time, in 1994, the newspapers wrote: “50 Years Ago Tonight the Leopoldville was 

Torpedoed off the Coast of Cherbourg.”  
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THE SS LEOPOLDVILLE 

Since the beginning of WWII, the SS Leopoldville had been under charter to the British Admiralty.  

Beginning in 1940, the 11,700-metric-ton Leopoldville had transported over 120,000 men safely to their 

destinations across the English Channel.  She completed 24 trips, never being hit by enemy fire.   

The Leopoldville made her final departure from Southampton, England into the English Channel on 

Christmas Eve, 1944.  She was carrying 2235 men of the 66th Infantry Division (the Black Panthers) 

headed to serve as reinforcements for the Battle of the Bulge.  Five and a half miles from the coast of 

Cherbourg, France, the Leopoldville was struck by a torpedo from a German U-boat.  Several hundred 

of the troops were killed in the initial blast.  Although the ship sank slowly, a combination of errors and 

communication problems resulted in the death of several hundred more.  As result, approximately 763 

soldiers died that night, less than 5 months before the end of the war in Europe. 

 

The S.S. Leopoldville 

Boarding Ship 

Two days before Christmas, 1944, approximately two thousand paratroopers boarded the Belgian 

troopship S.S. Leopoldville at Pier 38, Southampton.  Shortly thereafter, they were told to 

disembark.  Someone had made a mistake and they were told they were on the wrong ship.  As 

with the men of the 66th Division’s Company H, little did they know how lucky they had been.   
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On that same day, after weeks of waiting in camps in southern England, the mobilization of the 

262nd and 264th Regiments of the U.S. 66th Infantry Division began.  Duffel bags packed, the 

troops headed out to the harbor, for what turned out to be a six-hour wait on the docks.  When 

boarding finally began at 0200hrs on Christmas Eve, it seemed to follow no clear plan.  The two 

regiments were mixed together, companies were separated, and platoons randomly distributed 

throughout the Leopoldville and on the other troop transport of the convoy, S.S. Cheshire.  Men 

were ordered to board as they appeared, which eroded the command structure and led to 

confusion and chaos.  Later, it complicated the task of determining which soldiers were missing, 

and which had arrived safely in France.  

Typical of a massive troop transport experience, conditions on board were extremely crowded and 

uncomfortable.  Enlisted men spent anywhere from 12 to 18 hours sitting on benches in the 

converted cargo hold or asleep on the floor.  Some discovered hammocks and learned how to 

hang them.  As the ship left the docks at Southampton, seasickness quickly set in.  [Some credit 

the nausea with saving their lives, as they were on deck or in the heads rather than in their 

assigned compartments when the torpedo hit.]  

At about 0900hrs, the small convoy drew away from the docks.  The Leopoldville, followed by the 

Cheshire, was joined by HMS Brilliant, HMS Anthony, HMS Hotham, and the Free French frigate 

Croix de Lorraine after passing the harbor submarine nets.   

Five and one half miles off Cherbourg, German submarine, U-486 lay submerged, awaiting a 

target.  When Leopoldville came into her range, she fired.  The torpedo struck the Leopoldville on 

the starboard side aft and exploded in Number Four Hold.  Compartments E-4, F-4 and G-4 were 

flooded and stairways were blown away, but a few of the three hundred men in those 

compartments managed to escape to higher decks.  Men in other parts of the ship who felt the 

blow began to make their way to the deck.  There they lined up in formation and waited for 

instructions.  

Instructions were given, but not to the infantrymen.  A series of contradictory messages over the 

loudspeaker announced variously that a tug was on the way; that men would be transferred to 

other ships at sea; and that the ship was not sinking.  At 1816hrs, Brilliant signaled Leopoldville to 

drop anchor; having done so, at 1825hrs, Captain Limbor ordered all but essential crew to abandon 

ship.  

Delays in initiating rescue operations were many.  First, Brilliant had to signal Portsmouth rather 

than Cherbourg because the US forces in France were tuned to a different radio frequency than 

that used by the British, and could not read the British code.  Portsmouth's subsequent telephone 

call to Cherbourg was delayed for nearly an hour for reasons as yet unexplained.  

A second delay was the failure of any ship of the small convoy to reply to blinker signals from 

shore.  The Americans at Fort L'Ouest (Cherbourg) noticed immediately that the convoy had 
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stopped, and soon observed that one of the vessels was drifting toward a minefield.  However, 

repeated attempts on the part of Fort L'Ouest to signal Leopoldville and the convoy with blinkers 

brought no reply until 1825hrs, when Brilliant signaled: "Leopoldville hit, need assistance".  Fort 

L'Ouest blinkered back inquiring as to the kind of assistance needed, but received no reply.  

Another important cause of delay was the Christmas holiday itself.  In the harbor at Cherbourg lay 

several hundred vessels which could have served as rescue craft, but all were lightly manned due 

to the holiday and all had cold engines.  All posts on the base were minimally staffed due to 

attendance at holiday parties, a situation that significantly slowed communications, decisions and 

orders.   

The other escorts in the convoy were still hunting the U-boat, as commander of Brilliant and 

Convoy Commander John Pringle judged that the Cherbourg rescue craft could take all the 

remaining men off before the ship sank.  He was later to be questioned on this error in judgment.  

The convoy heard no call for assistance from the Leopoldville 

After the majority of the crew had abandoned ship on Limbor's order, at 1825hrs, having signaled 

Fort L'Ouest, the Brilliant approached and maneuvered alongside the Leopoldville. This was a 

difficult task, because the empty lifeboat davits were out on the port side, and two lifeboats were 

swung out on the starboard side.   

From the view point of Royal Navy sailor John Dixon aboard the HMS Brilliant:   

H.M.S. Brilliant went along the port side of the troopship.  We had put our starboard fenders over the 
side; the sea swell was causing a rise and fall of between 8ft and 12ft.  The scrambling nets were 
hanging down the Leopoldvilles's port side and the American soldiers were coming down on to our 
upper deck.  Some men had started to jump down from a height of approximately 40ft.  
Unfortunately, limbs were being broken when they landed on the torpedo tubes and other fixed 
equipment on the starboard side of the upper deck.  Some men fell between the two vessels and were 
crushed as the two vessels crashed into each other.  To avoid any further injuries, if possible, all our 
hammocks were brought up from our mess-decks below and laid on the starboard upper deck to cushion 
the fall of the soldiers as they landed. 

The servicemen were asked to spread themselves as evenly as possible all over the ship, above and 
below decks to avoid the possibility of capsizing.  At 19-20hrs, having taken on about 500 men, we 
pulled away from the Leopoldville as there were only a few inches of free board.  I was very much 
aware of this, as I was standing right on the stern port quarter.  To use an old naval expression, we 
could easily have been "pooped."  As we headed for the port of Cherbourg we passed the some of the 
rescue craft heading for the Leopoldville.  The other escorts in the convoy were still hunting for the 
U-boat 486.   

The scene on entering Cherbourg harbor was one of chaos; most of the ships along the quay had 
suffered the fate of being scuttled by the Germans.  There was one berth available on our port side as 
we entered the harbor.  There was just enough space, lengthways, to get along side but the captain 
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was unable to berth the ship just by using his two propellers.  After about 15 minutes, an American 
soldier came to the rescue with his jeep.  A line was thrown to him from our stern section.  He placed 
it over his Jeep's tow hook and slowly pulled the stern along side of the quay then placed the line over a 
bollard.  He repeated the same action at the bow.  The gangway was put out for the American 
servicemen to start disembarking.  I saw them putting their English money into a GI's tin hat as they 
left the ship, which was handed to one of our officers.  No doubt it was showing their appreciation at 
their rescue.  It is on record that HMS BRILLIANT rescued approximately 500 men at that first attempt, 
but on our return to rescue more men, the LEOPOLDVILLE had sunk.   

 

At 1920hrs, the battered and overloaded Brilliant pulled away, having taken on about 500 men.  

As she headed for shore, she passed the first rescue craft which were finally leaving harbor and 

heading to the scene of the sinking ship.  

At this time, a few rescue craft began to approach and take men off, but it was a slow process. At 

2000hrs there were still 1200 troops on board, as well as 25 Belgians and 10 British officers.  At 

this point, Limbor ordered the remaining Belgians and British to abandon ship, although he himself 

remained on board with a few of his crew who stood by him, thus leaving virtually no one with any 

knowledge of seamanship to aid in the rescue process.  After the crew had departed and with the 

loudspeaker no longer operational, Limbor walked around the ship giving the order to the troops to 

abandon ship.  Since he gave it in Flemish amid scenes of much confusion, it had little effect.  

At some point between 2020hrs and 2040hrs, two explosions were heard from the bowels of the 

ship, and hatch covers blew off, sending some men into the water.  Then the foundering vessel 

began to heel sideways as well as sinking stern down.  Rafts and other equipment broke loose 

from the deck and swept men into the sea.  The rest of the men soon followed, either jumping, 

walking down the overturned side into the water, or simply stepping off as the deck fell away 

beneath them.  

Ross Saunders had just turned 20 when the torpedo struck the compartment adjacent to his, killing 
about 300 soldiers instantly.  "I went down and got an armful of life preservers," Howard said.  "I 
was one of the last ones off.  It seemed forever.  I slid down the side of the ship.  I paddled off.  
A small American harbor craft threw me a rope.  My fingers were frozen.  They told me to tie it 
around my arm."  

Clarence Ash was below when the torpedo hit.  He recalls being thrown from his hammock, then 

smelling gunpowder with dust coming out of the walls.  At that point, the inside of the ship went 

pitch black.  He made his way in the darkness to the top of the ship.  

It was winter and the air was very cold.  The seas that night were rough with high winds and 5-foot 

waves. The 48-degree water was suddenly crowded with hundreds of struggling men.  In the 

more than two hours they had stood on deck, no one had instructed them to prepare to enter the 

water by removing their heavy clothing or gear.  Now they were in a rough sea weighed down by 
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their full field kit.  Most quickly divested themselves of their boots, rifles, ammunition belts, axes 

and entrenching tools, but their heavy winter overcoats were under the life jackets, and thus could 

not be removed.  

Others were already dead, killed instantaneously by their own gear.  They had not been instructed 

how to safely enter the water wearing their lifejackets and helmets.  On striking the water, if not 

tied together tightly, the two pillows which formed the front and back of the jacket snapped up with 

great force and broke the wearer's neck.  The same occurred with helmet straps if not unfastened.  

Captain Limbor went down with his ship, the only officer not to survive the sinking.  The official 

number of US infantry dead was calculated at 763.  

The U-486 was sunk on April 12th, 1945 in the North Sea northwest of Bergen, Norway, by 

torpedoes from the British submarine HMS Tapir.  All 48 crew onboard were lost.  

Those bodies which had been recovered (493 were never found) were buried on 25 and 26 
December in Blosville-Carentan and other nearby areas, and the incident was buried with them.  

_____________________ 

Sources: 
http://uboat.net/history/leopoldville.htm.  T. Allen, published on 14 Apr 2000. 
http://www.compunews.com/gus/leopold.htm   © 1984-2003 Computrain, All rights reserved. 
http://www.carlsen.karoo.net/   My Life in the Royal Navy during the Second World War, JK Dixon. 
Monument to honor WWII naval disaster that claimed area lives J. Napsha, Pittsburgh Tribune-Review (Nov 1997). 
http://www.defense.gov/news/newsarticle.aspx?id=24524   Survivors Remember 60-Year-Old Tragedy, D. 
Ryan, Special to American Forces Press Service (2004). 
http://www.monroenews.com/apps/pbcs.dll/article?AID=/20091224/NEWS01/712249995 The Sinking of the 
Leopoldville, D. Eby for The Evening News (2009).  
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http://www.defense.gov/news/newsarticle.aspx?id=24524
http://www.monroenews.com/apps/pbcs.dll/article?AID=/20091224/NEWS01/712249995
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FRANCE: PANTHÈRES NOIRE 

They kept us stationed on the Antana until we pushed off on December 29.  We landed in Cherbourg.  

There was no dock – just a huge freighter that had grounded and turned on its side.  We had to walk 

the length of the freighter to even get to the dock.  From Cherbourg, we were trucked to Rennes.  

We bivouacked in a big field, where we collected our gear and re-grouped.   

Then we moved in to Saint Nazaire on December 31.  Saint Nazaire was a sea port on the coast 

where parts of the German Army headed when Patton split them up after the break thru at St. Lo.  

The Germans thought they could board ships, go thru Mediterranean Sea and get back to Germany.  

However, those seaports were blockaded by the British and American Navies.  That left them in 

these pockets with no place to go.   

Saint Nazaire was a large 

submarine port.  It had so 

much concrete on top that even 

with the bombing it was hardly 

scratched.  The coast was also 

solid rock, so bombing never 

hurt the U-boat pens that 

existed there.  We were 

stationed in a town called Faye 

De Britayne.  Up on the line, 

the ground positions were 

already dug - thank God.  The 

machine gun positions could be 

up to 10 ft wide, and we                  

would have had to dig each one  

of them out.  We relieved the 

94th division.   

                                      

Figure 2  England to Faye de Britayne 
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The 94th division took our assignment as replacements for the Battle of the Bulge because they were 

a full division.  We were down 800 men from the Leopoldville.  We later learned that the 94th 

suffered heavy casualties at the Bulge.  Our guardian angels were still on the job. 

We went on line that night - December 31 – in the dark.  I was in charge of 2 machine guns.  John 

Hensley and Roy Denny were my squad leaders.  I stayed with Hensley, because I knew Denny could 

handle things.  The next day, I just made my way back and forth between the two gun positions to 

familiarize myself with the path between.  My machine guns were about 150yds apart, with nothing 

in-between.  Each position had 7 men with them.  The Germans shelled the hell out of us.  But 

these krauts didn’t want to fight.  They had a good position.  They just wanted us to know that they 

knew we were there.   

There were 14 submarine pens located in St. Nazaire and another 3 in the Lorient.  The enemy was 

dug in with some of the toughest troops Germany had to offer.  Artillery duels, including limited 

objective attacks, patrolling, harassing and capturing enemy personnel were carried out.  Our orders 

when we went up were: “You cannot move back from these positions.  Do not retreat.  Do not 

leave.  Do not abandon the gun positions.”  There were about 55000 Germans penned in this pocket 

around Saint Nazaire.  Our job was just to keep them there and fight it out. 

I remember going to Mass on Sunday 

mornings.  I timed my trip to platoon 

headquarters to pick up the mail so I could 

make the 10 o’clock Mass at a country 

church along the way.  When the priest 

rang the bell to start the service, all the 

women and children went into the church.  

The men all turned and faced the church 

and pissed on the wall.  I have no idea 

why they did it, but I saw it every week.  I 

always hid the jeep behind the church and 

took the rotor out of the distributor so it 

wouldn’t start. 
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1945 brought the coldest winter to Europe in 25 years.  Our gun position was cold and damp, so a 

couple of the men went off to some bombed-out houses in the rear of our position and came back 

with a wood-burning stove and some smoke pipes.  We had heat at night when the smoke was not 

visible.  It also dried out the gun position.  We no longer had to sleep with our wool hats in the 

breathing hole of our fart sacks. 

 

Our routine was 2 weeks on the line, 2 days off.  Our rest area was in a little cow barn a couple of 

miles back from the line.  The 2 day relief was spent the same way each turn: Day 1: we cleaned the 

gear.  We emptied our canvas shell belts and tore the guns down, cleaned and checked everything.  

On Day 2, we went into Nantes to a pub.  Trucks picked us up at 7am and drove into town; we’d be 

in the pubs by 8am.  We were told what corner to be on at about 4pm.  That was your ride back and 

you didn’t miss it.  Everyone would head back all slopped-up. 
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The best thing about these 

2-days was you could sleep all 

night – no guard duty, no 

chance of anyone breaking in.  

We were a couple of miles back 

from the line for relief.  And we 

had hot breakfasts.  Up on the 

line, we’d get breakfasts 

delivered in these 5gal mermide 

cans that were supposed to 

preserve the heat.  We’d get 

flapjacks that were so hard you 

could shoot them.  I was at the 

end of the line, the last stop to 

get fed, so I never got a hot 

meal.  I used to ask the cook: 

“Did you bring more of that cold slop up again tonight?”  And he’d say, “Yeah, but it’s different cold 

slop than last night.” 
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We had to keep 1 man outside at all times, all through the night.  I remember one night that was my 

turn:  I was stationed outside the tent, when I suddenly heard this terrible racket.  I didn’t know 

what was coming at me, but it was making a helluva noise.  I pulled the pin on a grenade in 

preparation.  Then I realized it was a big red fox that was taking a run at me.  The snow had a frozen 

crust on it that cracked with every step, and in the dead of night, it echoed like mad.  I had to throw 

the grenade out in front of our position.   

The only sound that came from inside the tent was 

McCusker: “You all right out there, Mac?” 

I used to take some notes while up on the line.  I kept them 

in a small, pocket-sized address book.  If you were 

captured, you didn’t want the enemy finding anything on you 

that might hold information.  Here is a sampling of the 

notes: 

 

Jan  We got 5 and the mortars must have got 
about 10 because there were 15 killed in all. 
Most disastrous scene I have ever 
witnessed.   

Jan 14  No pattern.  Shelled us pretty heavy 
closest 150yds 

Feb 2 Start 2 days off-line 

Feb 3. Nantes: Beautiful town – bombed all to hell. 

Feb 4.  Few 88’s. No close ones 

Feb 8   Burps at it last night 

Feb 9   Burps again  81’s gave them hell  hit a few  
Deacon Damon sent a few 81 shells in front 
of us to quiet things down. 

Feb 10 All quiet 
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[Harry Truman had been vice president for only 82 days when President Roosevelt died on April 12, 

1945.  He had rarely discussed world affairs or domestic politics with Roosevelt and was uninformed 

about major initiatives relating to the war including the top secret Manhattan Project, which was 

about to test the world's first atomic bomb.  Shortly after taking the oath of office, Truman said to 

reporters:  "Boys, if you ever pray, pray for me now.  I don't know if you fellas ever had a load of hay 

fall on you, but when they told me what happened yesterday, I felt like the moon, the stars, and all 

the planets had fallen on me."] 

On April 15, 1945, to mark the second anniversary of the 66th Infantry Division, General Eisenhower, 

Supreme Commander Allied Expeditionary Forces, awarded to the division a star of battle (battle star) 

for its participation in the campaign in France.  “Your first reward of honor is deserved and you can 

wear with pride.” 
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SURRENDER: SAINT NAZAIRE 

In early May 1945, our troops from the 66th Infantry Division were informed that we would soon be 

replaced by French soldiers of General de Larminat.  But we did not want to miss the surrender of the 

pocket of Saint-Nazaire, which was figured to be close.  On May 3, 1945 Major-General Kramer, 

accompanied by his Chief of Staff, met General de Larminat in his headquarters in Cognac to arrange 

delay of this replacement for a few days.] 

Germany surrendered unconditionally in Rheims on Monday, May 7, 1945 at 1441.  The protocols 

signed during the surrender on May 8 stated that the Germans still had 2 days to clear the access to 

the pocket, stow their equipment, make it intact, and park themselves in prison camps.  On May 11, 

in Saint Nazaire, the Germans surrendered to the 66th Division, liberating 856 square miles of French 

territory.  Inside the liberated territory 

were some 180,000 civilians, virtually 

held prisoner by their  

German captors and forced to share 

with the Nazis the constant 

bombardment of the 66th Division 

Artillery. 

The U.S. 66th Infantry Division started 

to prepare to enter the pocket on the 

evening of May 10, 1945.  We had to 

march about 5-6 miles to get inside.                Surrender ceremony, Saint Nazaire 

When we went into those U-boat pens, the Krauts had fresh fruit and newspapers only a week old.  It 

was also a dry dock – they had 1 submarine that was in for repair. 

Our battalion confiscated a truck load of booze one night that some French were trying to sneak in to 

the German prisoners.  They were gonna sell it to them.  Each man in the company was given a fifth 

– of something.  I think I got a bottle of brandy.  There were all different kinds of booze, and each 

man you ran into asked you to try theirs.  I got so loaded I couldn’t even stand up.  I remember 

leaning up against a tree and feeling myself sliding down – there was nothing I could do about it.  I 

fell asleep under that tree.  Lucky for me, when it started raining that night, someone came by and 

threw a tarp over me.  I was hungover for days.  First and last load I ever had.   
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Someone took the opportunity to shave half the bushy moustache off the second-in-command.  

Fundum was probably the only sober soldier that night.  Someone had to stay alert.  But he got his 

fifth the next night.   

 

One spot we set up in was LeBaule.  The army would set up the chow lines out in the street, and the 

GIs would make their way through with their mess gear.  The local women would all gather around, 

waiting to see either what was left in the pots or what the GIs would spare.  Lots of the GIs would 

just scrape their mess gear right into their buckets.  These people had no food – it was pretty sad to 

see them scavenging like that. 
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ON TO THE NEXT MISSION 

The army had a point system in place that determined 

whether or not you could go home.  A soldier was 

awarded points for his months of service, for the 

medals he received, for the combat stars earned by his 

unit, and for the number of children he had.   

The higher the score, the higher the probability of 

being sent home for discharge.  For those of us who 

didn’t have enough points earned, we prepared for our 

next assignment.  By mid-May, we were getting ready 

to leave for Germany towards the city of Koblenz for a 

mission of occupation and control of German military 

activity there.  The following are some of my notes 

from that trip: 

May 20  Left Prinquiau assembly area headed for 

Koblenz, GER.  Went through Nantes and Angers 

May 21  Another Day on the 40+8’s.  [40+8’s were the 

boxcars we rode on the rails]  France is slowly recovering from 

the war.   

A little reconstruction is being done.  While riding the 40+8’s, if 

you wanted to shave, you had to run up to the engine.  For 2 

cigarettes, the engineer would fill your helmet with hot water 

from the steam boiler. 

May 22  Went through Metz and Chateau Thierry – beautiful 

country.  Hit Luxembourg today.  Not too much destruction 

here.  
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May 23  Left Luxembourg last night – now in the 

fatherland.  Went through Bastogne which is 

leveled.  Arles, Neuchatel, Marche, Liege, Aachen.  

This last town has been bombed and shot up 

something terrible.  Really looks good.  Now 

stopped in a town called Duren.  This town is also a 

mess. 

Still eating C and K rations with a few sardines 

thrown in.  We have crossed the Seine-Moselle, 

Meuse, Rhine, Marne and Ruhr rivers.  We have 

traveled a roundabout route.  Most of the rails have 

just been re-laid.  Yesterday, we passed trainloads 

of prisoners, Dutch and French – all going home.   

Men, women and children are all 

living in these damn boxcars.  We 

have 25 men in ours and it’s crowded 

as hell.  Those poor people were 

jammed in till there were 40-50 in one 

car.  I was talking with one frog and 

he told me the Germans worked him 

16h a day, and gave him little or no 

food.   

May 24  Morning again.  Went 

through Remagen.  Saw the famous 

Remagen Bridge across the Rhine.  
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U.S. Capture Remagen Bridge during World War II 

The Ludendorff Bridge (known frequently by English-speakers during World War II as 
the Bridge at Remagen) was a railway bridge across the River Rhine in Germany, 
connecting the villages of Remagen and Erpel between two ridge lines of hills flanking the 
river.  Remagen is situated near and south of Bonn. 

The bridge is notable for its capture on 7–8 March 1945, by American forces during the 
Second World War Battle of Remagen, which allowed the Allies to establish a bridgehead 
across the Rhine. 

The German commandant at Remagen wanted to keep the bridge open as long as possible.  
His intent was that as many German soldiers as possible and their heavy equipment would 
be able to cross the bridge.  The responsible bridge officer demanded a requisition of 
600kg of demolition explosives, receiving at 1100 hrs only 300 kg of Donarit, a 
considerably weaker industrial explosive used in the mining industry.  He tried to use 
them for a quick blast on the right bank side. 

At 1340 hrs the main American attack began.  The first blast of the Germans, who set fire 
to a portion of the charges, tore a 10-meter-wide crater in the left bank ramp.  At 1540 hrs, 
the bridge itself was blown up by order of the commandant, but remained standing.  It 
lifted a bit and then dropped safely back in place, as an explosive cable had been 
destroyed.  One of the last intact Rhine bridges had been taken by the Allies. 

Allied journalists termed the capture the "Miracle of Remagen." General of the Army 
Dwight D. Eisenhower declared the bridge "worth its weight in gold" and "one of those 
bright opportunities of war which, when quickly and firmly grasped, produce incalculable 
effects on future operations".  It remained functional (but weakened severely), despite the 
German detonation of one small charge and a stronger charge a few minutes later.   

The bridge capture was an important strategic event of WW2 because it was the only 
remaining bridge over the Rhine River into Germany's heartland and was also strong 
enough that the Allies could cross immediately with tanks and trucks full of supplies. Once 
it was captured, the German troops began desperate efforts to damage it or slow the Allies' 
use of it. At the same time, the Allies worked to defend it, expand their bridgehead into a 
lodgement sufficiently large that the Germans could no longer attack the bridge with 
artillery, and kept it in repair despite the ongoing battle damage. 
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May 24  After another night in a boxcar, we 

unloaded this morning and moved to an old 

airstrip where the regiment is bivouacking in 

Parade ground style.  We are now outside of 

Koblenz.  I heard a reliable story today that 

the Russians are taking everything in Berlin 

and shipping it home.  They are all drunk 

and living high, using the German women as 

they please.  Our regiment has been 

attached to 23rd Corps for a special mission, 

otherwise we would not be here.  We would 

be in our town that we were going to occupy. 

 

 

 

May 25  Still here on airstrip Neidermenzig.  

[With the end of the war, Niedermenzig Airfield 

was closed on 11May1945.  The ground station 

was taken over by Army units as part of the 

occupation force.  United States Army forces 

moved out of Niedermenzig in the late summer of 

1945, as French forces moved into the Rhineland 

as part of their occupation zone of Germany.] 

May 26  Rumors of moving to Marseille.  I guess 

it’s the Pacific for us.  That suits me fine.  Other 

rumors say we are going to process troops going 

to the Pacific. 
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May 27  Heard Mass this morning  Struck tents (had a picture taken here).  Finally got loaded on 

boxcars once again.  Once we started out, we passed through Koblenz – completely destroyed.   

   

 

Rheims: the cherry trees in this section are many 

and full of cherries.  Passed a POW camp on a large plain; must have been 4 mi long.  Passed 

through Boppard, St. Goar, the Bacharach Mountain ranges on the right of the Rhine.  Looks like a 

gigantic sandtable – miniature towns in deep valleys (9 o’clock snack of sardines)  On to 

Niederhambach. 

May 28  Didn’t move much today.  Crossed the Rhine at Mainz.  Saw the FDR Memorial bridge, 

and then passed through Mannheim. 

May 29  We are traveling pretty good now.  I think we are out of Germany.  We are in a little town 

called Saverne.  Now in Saarbrucken – went through the Saarbrucken – Alsace-Lorraine territory and 

Strasbourg. 

May 30  Really moving now.  Went through Troyes and Dijon.  We’re not far from the Swiss 

border, passing through the outer edges of the Alps.  Beautiful mountains, really pretty country.  

Went through Lyon, St. Etienne, Le Puy, now in Valence.  The farther we go the better I think it’s the 

Pacific.  Went through Avignon.  Stopped about 13 miles north of Marseilles at the Delta Base 

center: POE to Pacific.  Now we hear we are to process troops again.  Looks like I was wrong. 



 

Page  51  LJ McLaverty 33595276 
 

May 31  Arrived at this Delta base sector and it looks like processing troops is our job!  [Starting 

from May 26, 1945, most of the 66th Infantry Division headed to Marseille to be redeployed to the 

Pacific War, or sent home to the United States.  This was an enormous task.  The officers and men 

build two huge camps with tents in Arles and Saint-Victoret on the dusty plains.  A tremendous 

amount of paperwork was required to prepare tens of thousands of soldiers and thousands of tons of 

equipment for shipping.]   

June 1  H company was assigned to a plateau outside of Marseilles (Vitrolles) to guard a motor pool 

of jeeps, tanks, trucks, and ambulances.  The French were trying to steal batteries, rotors, and any 

other parts they could get their hands on. 

 

Figure 3  St. Nazaire to Marseille 
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In Marseilles, they always had 

photographers out on the street that 

would snap your picture as you walked 

by.  They would give you a ticket and 

then you could go back the next week 

and pick up a copy of the photo.  I had 

a bunch of pictures taken in Marseilles.  

Most of the photographers were taken 

on the Rue de Canebière, which was 

the main street of Marseille. 
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USO Camp Show, Vitrolles  
 

In 1941, the U.S. Army made a 
plea for entertainment for troops 
preparing for the war in training 
camps around the country.  In 
October of that year, USO Camp 
Shows, Inc., was designated by 
the War and Navy Departments as 
the ”Official Entertainer” of the 
men and women of the armed 
forces.  The USO’s tradition of 
bringing entertainment to service 
members around the world was 
born. 

During the peak of action in 1945, 
USO Camp Shows were presenting 
700 shows a day, with more than 
300,000 performances overseas 
and in the United States, to an 
audience totaling more than 173 
million.  Camp Shows entertained 
as many as 15,000 soldiers seated 
on the ground, as few as 20 in 
jeeps based at a lonely outpost 
and at the bedsides of wounded 
soldiers recuperating in military 
hospitals. 

Celebrity draftees like Mickey 
Rooney entertained troops in 
stateside training camps, staging 
areas and overseas units across 
Germany. Soldier Jeep Shows and 
Special Service Company Shows 
took live entertainment to combat 
areas.  Rooney was a member of 
a three-man unit on a jeep tour to 
entertain the troops in Kist, 
Germany on April 13, 1945.  He 

performed with Bobby Breen in Vitrolles in August of 1945. 
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Aug 15  At 1240 this morning, we heard the announcement that the US had accepted Japanese 

unconditional surrender.  Thank God for now we will be getting home to our loved ones. 

[On August 15, Emperor Hirohito delivered a radio broadcast announcement of the acceptance of the 

terms of the Potsdam Declaration at noon, Japan standard time.] 

Sep 28  I’m a man now [21 years old].  Moving from Vitrolles to St. Victoret. 

Oct 5  53 men left the 66th to go to 42nd division, and on Oct 10, 26 more men left for 42nd. 

OCCUPATION DUTY 

Oct 16, 1945  Left St. Victoret today, and went up to Arles by truck, then got loaded on 40 + 8’s.  

Started out at 2130.  Went back through Avignon - Valence 

I remember the kids standing 

along the railroad tracks when 

our boxcars would be cruising 

past.  They would be begging 

for us to throw them the bars 

of chocolate that were packed 

in our C rations.  It was a solid 

block of chocolate, and most of 

the GIs saved it for when we 

would come across these kids. 

Oct 17  Passed through Vienne  Now at Lyon.  Spent 2 hours here, looked the town over. 

Oct 18  Went through Mulhouse this morning.  Guebwiller – Colmar – Selestat – Erstein 

Oct 19  Strasburg – Aukein – on through Austria.  Bahnstenz completely demolished 

Oct 20 – Hit Salzburg on this Saturday morning, but we’re turning back to Rosenheim – went too far.  

Bavarian Alps are very beautiful.  Now in Tiesendorf.  Got off just outside of Rosenheim and walked 

to 781st replacement Co of 42nd.  We’re housed in an old German tank corps barracks.  It’s really 

beautiful in this section of the country.  Bavarian Alps in the background are really beautiful.   



 

Page  58  LJ McLaverty 33595276 
 

 

Figure 4  Marseille to Wels / Steyr 

 

Oct 21t – Just spent the day looking around here.  Good PX and quarters but lousy chow. 

Oct 22  Moved to the Linz area on the Danube River.  We are assigned to the 331 Combat 

Engineers for food and lodging.  We are a 5-man Labor Supervision Company: Co 1701 Labor 

Supply.  I was made a supply sergeant and given a 2 1/2 ton truck.  My job is to haul supplies for the 

prisoners in our stockades.  The 5 of us are the only ones allowed inside the Lager.  The 42nd 

Division walked guard duty outside the Lager.  We were billeted at Eblesburg, Austria.  I rode a 

trolley car every day from Eblesburg to Linz to work. 

Oct 23 – Shipped out today from Linz to permanent quarters here near Wels.  Nice town.  Good PX 

and good living conditions.  Still driving a truck, but it sure beats walking. 
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Unit Deactivated November 8, 1945 
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I was usually given a stack of trip tickets at a time.  The company commander didn’t want to be 

bothered signing off every time I had to move some coal in a truck, so he signed off on a stack and 

told me to fill them in for wherever I was going.  If you were stopped, you had to produce a trip ticket 

that said you were permitted to be driving.  I was constantly picking up fresh supplies for the 

prisoners – fresh potatoes, pipe tobacco.  I used to stop and let the cook for the GIs get some of the 

fresh potatoes to use instead of the dehydrated kind we were used to getting.  I’d also let the GIs 

who smoked get a crack at the tobacco. 

 

The 66th was essentially split up – lots of men were reassigned to Patton’s Rainbow Division (42nd), 

and others were sent to various occupation duties in France and Germany.  I was assigned to the 

5-man labor company of the 331 Combat.  Another group had been sent back to the US.  They took 

our division flags and everything back with them, where they were officially retired.  We didn’t know 

it was happening at the time, as we had already been reassigned with new orders.  

Nov 11 – Left Wels, drove 42kilometers to Steyr, Austria.  Living here in an apartment house.  

Pretty good deal.  Lived with Deacon Damon and Roach.   Same crap with the truck: hauling 7 ton 

of coal in a 2 ½ ton truck from Volkbruck in the mountains to the Stalag in Steyr.   

Coming down the snow-covered mountains, I would always keep the flap open on the truck.  If it 

started to slide, I planned to jump out and let it go. 
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Nov 12  We spent the day fixing up our room.  Damon, Roach, and I are living together in one big 

room on the second floor.  Medic office on the first floor – they spray the locals with DDT.   

Coming down the mountain in one snowstorm, I had to open the split windshield to see.  The wipers 

were hand-operated.  By the time I reached the bottom of the mountain, I was damn-near frozen.  I 

was swearing like mad.  Another GI standing there agreed with every word I said.  Then I saw he 

had a cross on his collar. 

Nov 17 – PWs came in today; about 250 of them. 

Dec 25  Christmas in Steyr, Austria 

 

1946 

Jan 18 – Moved to Lager Haid in Kromsten, 

guarding more German prisoners.  Found out 

we’ll be going home in April.  

[Lager Haid was a large camp located near 

Ansfelden, Austria, and was once a Jewish 

prison camp.  Later, German POW’s were held 

there.  Eventually, it became temporary 

housing for refugees.] 

Jan 21 – moved back to Eblesburg to take over 

Lager no 5.  Living with 11th Engineers.  
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FURLOUGH TO SWITZERLAND 
On March 4, I had about $10 to my name.  I was in a craps game and couldn’t lose.  I was up about 

$200 bucks when one of the orderlies found me to tell me that my name had been pulled out of a hat, 

and that I was one of the winners of a raffle for a trip to Switzerland.  The tour was to leave from 

Mulhouse, France, but I had to get myself there to join it.   

Mar 5 - Got a train to Munich.  Hitchhiked from Munich to Karlsruhe in any ride I could get: jeep – 

ambulance – civilian car.  Spent the night in Karlsruhe.  Nice club, pretty fair hotel.  Saw the floor 

show at EM club. 

Mar 7 – Left Karlsruhe 0800.  MPs took us to edge of town.  Caught a Henie truck for 10kilometers 

– French messenger jeep to Baden Baden – French civilian car to Strasbourg.  Went through Roesatt 

and crossed Rhine once more.  Now in Strasbourg at Swiss Leone Center sweating out more 

transportation.  Heard one train was wrecked so they are sending 300 men back from Mulhouse.  

Everything happens to me. 
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All this time we have been traveling, some Lt. Col has been tagging along with us.  We found a 

civilian train that was leaving so we took it and got to Mulhouse OK.   

Taking Tour 15.  Got processed and all shined up.  Take off for Switzerland tomorrow. 

Mar 8 – Got to Basel, finally.  

Mar 9 – Montreaux.  Had a free day. 

Mar 10 - Arriving at Zermatt, I got a pair of ski boots, skis and poles.  

We went up a gentle slope.  I fell 3 times coming down.  Took off 

the boots, stuck the skis in the snow in front of the hotel and asked 

the man 

where the 

nearest pub 

was.  That 

was it for the 

skiing. 

I went into a 

bake shop 

with another 

guy and just 

stood in the back smelling all the cakes and 

cookies.  

When 2 women left, we went up to the counter 

and asked for some cakes.  The lady said you 

can get them now because the 2 women in 

front of you left stamps for you to get 

whatever you want.  The stamps were part of 

the rationing program in Switzerland.  

Everyone that I met in Switzerland was great. 
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[During the war, food was scarce, and the Swiss 

authorities aimed at a fair distribution with rationing.  

Each person was allowed to buy only a certain 

quantity of food and goods of daily use per month, 

and monthly rationing stamps were delivered to 

control this.  Many things were rationed: sugar, 

pasta, rice, wheat, corn, butter, fats, oils, textiles, 

shoes, soap, coffee, tea, cocoa, cheese, eggs, milk, 

meat, honey, jam, chocolate, and gasoline.  The 

rationing was not completely waived until more than 

three years after end of war.] 

Time to start hunting down rides to get back to 

camp. 

 

 

Figure 5  Steyr to Basel 
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BACK TO CAMP 
Mar 15 – Arrived at Mulhouse at 1200.  Ate there and talked an MP into riding us through Colmar to 

Strasbourg.  The other 2 guys I was traveling with decided to keep on going to Karlsruhe but I’m 

staying here to get a good night’s sleep. 

Mar 16 – Left Strasbourg in jeep and got to Karlsruhe.  There I caught a Henie truck to the autobahn 

– jeep – horse & wagon - 2 ½ ton truck then another Henie truck to Salzburg.  Salzburg to Wels in 

a Stars and Stripes ¾ ton truck.  Hit Wels at 2400 and stayed all night.  Thumbed into Linz early 

Sunday morning. 

Mar 18 – Got back from Switzerland.  Received my orders to report to the 133 Combat Engineers for 

shipment home.  Happy Day. 
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HEADED HOME 

Mar 19th – took off to Wolfgang to 133Eng to start home.  When I arrived at Wolfgang, Austria, I 

found out I’d be living in a Marine Barracks. 

Mar 29 – Hit the 40+8’s once more.  We’re headed for LeHavre.  Went to Bad Ishal in 2 ½’s, and 

then back on to the 40 + 8’s. 

We are traveling through Gmunden – Salzburg – Frankfurt – Hamburg – Marnz.  Should sail 

somewhere around the 6th or 8th. 

 

Figure 6  Linz to LeHavre 

 

Apr 1 – arrived at LeHavre, France.  Don’t know as yet when we are shipping out.  Met Don Nave, 

he’s been in the bull pen for 21 days.  Tilly is here, too.  Also Guio 

Apr 7 – Leaving today aboard the USS General Anderson carrying 5000 troops.  Boarded the ship 

around 1800 today.  Won’t sail until tomorrow.  Only 2 meals a day if you don’t pull a detail. 

Apr 8 – more troops came on this morning.  We sail around 1400 today 
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Apr 9 – As of 0800 this morning we were 410 miles from LeHavre!  Ocean is pretty mild.  Stomach 

is jumpy but so far I haven’t had to hit the rail.  Bucking for a detail – getting hungry. 

Apr 10 – As of 0800 this morning, 832 miles out.  Saw something interesting today.  Around 1800 

we sighted a tanker – Port Henry of Oregon.  She was sitting still.  We pulled alongside and lowered 

a boat.  There was an injured man on board but they didn’t transfer him because a hospital ship was 

coming along behind. 

Apr 11 – As of 0800 we are 1306 miles out.  Volunteered for KP duty and I worked my neck off.  But 

I’m eating 3 meals a day now and able to go to the show. 

While working a steam table so I could get my 3 meals a day, a GI threw up in my area.  A Navy chief 

told me to get a mop and clean it up.  I grabbed my shirt with my stripes on the sleeve and told him 

where he could stick his mop.  I grabbed the rest of my stuff and told him to get someone else to run 

his steam tray. 

Apr 12 – As of 0800 we are 1801 miles out with 1447 to go.  Better than half way there now.  I had 

the day off today – nice weather. 

Apr 13 – Nasty weather – waves coming over the bow 

Apr 14 – Nasty weather again. 

Apr 15 – Pulled into NY today.  Ship docked at 1800 - one of the greatest thrills I have ever had.  A 

tug came out in the harbor to meet us with a delegation of girls on it.  They sang some number over 

a loud speaker system.  People all waved to us and the ferries all blew their whistles.  It has really 

been a wonderful day.  Well, it’s all over now and I thank God I came out of it as well as I did. 

Apr 16 – arrived in Kilmer, NJ.  This is just a waste of time. 

Apr 17th – leaving for Dix today.  Went through a lot of 

baloney. 

Apr 18th – Waiting to get a ruptured duck so I can be 

processed for discharge.  (Ruptured Duck was the 

nickname given to the emblem on the patch that was sewn 

onto your uniform when you were discharged.)   

Apr 20th - Mom and Cap picked me up at Dix and took me home.  
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Discharge 
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SERVICE SUMMARY 

Record of service: France 29Dec44 – 23May45 
 Germany 23May45 – 27May45 
 France 28May45 – 24Oct45 
 Austria 25Oct45 to 29Mar45 
 Road to Port 29Mar46 to 7Apr46 
 Sailed 8Apr46 to 15Apr46 
 Discharged  20Apr46 

Medals: Good Conduct Medal at Vitrolles 27Jul45 
 CIB issued 5Feb45 
 ETO issued 1Feb45 
 Victory Medal II 
 Bronze star 
 American Defense Occupation Ribbon 

Promotion Record:  M.O.S. No. 
 Pvt 3/24/43 Gunner – 605 
 Cpl 8/23/43 Sqd Leader – 653 
 Sgt 11/13/43 Sec Ldr - 652 
 S/Sgt 1/5/44 Survey & Ins – 228 
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Panther Veterans Organization  (PVO) 
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Panther Vets 

 

 

  

 

                                   Fundum at the WWII Memorial at Camp Robinson, AK. 
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PVO Reunion, June 2009 

Laying a wreath at the grave of General Kramer in Arlington National Cemetery.   
 

Dad and 2 other vets were assigned to lead the “moment of silence.”   
Dad’s silence was broken with:  

“I don’t know why she’s got us laying a wreath on his grave.  We hated him.” 
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Receiving a commendation at the WWII Memorial, Washington, DC, 2009. 
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I guess survivors of the Leopoldville are entitled to their own sense of humor. 

 

PVO Reunion, 2009: Denny, McLaverty, McCusker. 
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FREEDOM 

adapted from Father Denis Edward O'Brien, USMC  
 

It is the soldier, not the reporter 
Who has given us FREEDOM of the press. 

It is the soldier, not the poet, 
Who has given us FREEDOM of speech.  

It is the soldier, not the campus organizer 
Who has given us FREEDOM to demonstrate.  

It is the soldier,  
Who salutes the Flag, 
Serves under the Flag,  

Lies in a coffin draped by the Flag, 
Who gives a protestor FREEDOM to burn the Flag. 

It is the soldier, not the politician, 
Who has given his blood,  

his body,  
his life, 

For these FREEDOMS!  
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Epilogue 
In 1995, the mayor of Paris, France issued a proclamation celebrating the 50th anniversary of the 

end of the war, recognizing all who had served in France during World War II.  All servicemen 

who could prove they had served at any point during the war within the country of France were 

eligible for recognition.   

When Pop was notified of the honor, he submitted his records and received in the mail a very nice 

certificate, naming him an “Honorary Monsieur of France.”  It came with a personal note from the 

mayor, explaining that the award was presented in appreciation for helping to free France and 

keep it liberated.  The certificate hung in the dining room for years, just below Pop’s medals. 

In April 2000, another ceremony was hosted in the Paris suburb of St. Denis by their city mayor, 

Didier Paillard.  A street there was being named for “U.S. political prisoner” Mumia Abu-Jamal.  

[Mumia Abu-Jamal is a convicted murderer, guilty of the 1981 execution-style shooting of 

Philadelphia police officer, and army veteran, Daniel Faulkner.  In July of 1982, Mumia 

Abu-Jamal was sentenced to death.  The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania heard the defendant's 

appeals and upheld the conviction in 1989.]   

 

When Pop got wind of that ceremony, he promptly 

removed his Honorary Monsieur certificate from its 

frame, rolled it up, and returned it to the mayor of 

Paris, with his own personal note: 

“The next time the Germans come knocking,    

Don’t   call   me.” 
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